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Chesht-e Sharif, Medrese (Cest-e Sarif)

Cat. No. CS1

Position  Lat. 34° 20" 19.82" (N) Long. 63° 44' 19.40" (E) Height 1,587 (m)

Location north of the centre of Chesht-e Sharif town, in the southwestern
corner of the large graveyard north of the city. Map p. 70

Type medrese; cemetery

Date Ghurid (inscr.: 562[1167); 121/13%; 14"-16"/17t CE (pottery)

Condition ruin; CS 1a restored and completely altered c. 2007 (Fig. 11)

North of the town of Chesht-e Sharif, two solitary ruins are surrounded by an
extensive burial ground (CS 1, Figs. 85-87; 226a). Extending towards the east of
this area are park-like grounds with several shrines of various types and dates
(CS 35-39, Figs. 85; 92; 226a). They are associated with the shrine of Khaje
Qutb ud-Din Moudud Cheshti (d. 527|1132-33 or 534]1139-40), sponsored
by the later sultan Ghiyath al-Dunya wa'l-Din. Prior to that Abu Ishaq Shani,
(d. 329|941) reportedly built a khaneqah there. The shrine is among the few
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Fig. 86 Chesht, medrese and shrine (Photo of 1920 by O. von Niedermayer)
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Fig. 85 The town of Chesht-e Sharif,
location of the historical area (cp. Fig. 226a-b)

important holy places mentioned in the 14" and
15% century (Noelle-Karimi 2014, 31; 42).

The ruins in the western part of this area are
mentioned by E. Diez (Niedermayer/Diez 1924, 62;
63), who notes 'several dilapidated buildings, two
of them tomb cupolas.' E. Diez continues in the
following that ‘the palmettes of the inscription
frieze show a striking similarity with the calligra-
phic ornament of the ancient iwan in Khargid"
and that 'the band ornament is similar to the one
on the tower in Kerat?, which implies that these
cupolas must date from the 11" to the 12 century
and, as domed structures, are as rare as historically
valuable' He writes further: ‘Particularly appealing
is the Naskhi inscription in the richly ornamented
niche (on CS 1a) east of the entrance”?

If E. Diez's expression of 'several dilapidated
buildings' is correct, there must have been more
ruins in the 1920s, not necessarily belonging
to the large building of which only the two
present structures are left. In fact, a photograph
in Niedermayer/Diez (1924, Fig. 182) shows a
smaller ruin and a larger two-storey building
with iwan and pishtaq in the background, of
which no remains are left* (Figs. 86; 87).

Niedermayer/Diez 1924, 63. - Diez 1918, Taf. 18.2.
Diez 1918, 71-76 Taf. 12.
Niedermayer/Diez 1924, 63.

The position is to the west of the current location of
the shrines CS 35-39.
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Fig. 88 Shah-e Mashhad, medrese,
view from southwest (Photo: M.J. Casimir/B. Glatzer)

The two preserved buildings carry out-standing
terracotta ornamentations on the exterior faca-
des. Their style is well paralleled by the decorative
patterns of the Minaret of Jam (Ghurid, dated
1193/94 or 1174/75)°, the Ghurid mausoleum in
Herat, ascribed to Ghiyath al-Din (r. 1163-1203),
now destroyed, and the portal of the Friday
Mosque in Herat (built around 1200, later mo-
dified and covered with fayence mosaics), even
though there the bricks of the Kufic inscription
are turquoise-glazed®. More buildings with very
similar features are known in other regions of
ancient Khorasan, e.g. at Zuzan near the Iran-
Afghan border (Blair 1985).

So far the closest preserved example is re-
presented by the medrese of Shah-e Mashhad
(dated 11667 or 1175/768, Figs. 88-90). It is situa-
ted in Gharjistan at the left bank of the Murghab
River, at a distance of 80 km from Chesht and Jam,
respectively, in the province of Badghis. Published
in 1971 by M.J. Casimir and B. Glatzer, the pre-
sumably four-iwan complex, of which only the
eastern part of the southern wing and a small part
in the north are preserved, originally measured
44.20 m (N-S) x 44.00 m (E-W).

A to-scale projection of the two structures
at Chesht onto the ground plan of the Shah-e

5 Maricg/Wiet 1959. - Dupaigne 2007, 106.

6  Melikian-Chirvani 1970, 325. - Glatzer/Stuckert 1980. -
Franke/Urban 2017, 19 Figs. 18a-c. - Hansen et al. 2015.

7 Dupaigne 2007, 108.

8 Casimir/Glatzer 1971, 56

Catalogue

Fig. 89 Shah-e Mashhad, medrese, southern facade
(Photo: W. Herberg)

B Structures Medrese Chesht

Structures Medrese Shah-e Mashhad
(groundplan after Glatzer/Casimir 1971,
complemented)
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Fig. 90 Projection of the Chesht buildings onto the Shah-e Mashhad groundplan

Mashhad medrese (Fig. 90) illustrates the similarities between the two buildings.
It may serve as a visual aid for a general perception of a possible layout of the
Chesht medresein the late 12" century. The analogies between Shah-e Mashhad
and the buildings at Chesht (see CS 1a) are not only the general layout and
terracotta ornaments, but also architectural details, e.g. the construction of the
squinches with concave cylindrical recesses in between, the stucco decoration
in the interior and the Kufic und Naskhi inscriptions.® The two structures are
described in detail in the following.

9  Casimir/Glatzer 1971. - Fischer 1978a, 348. - Blair 1985, 81-86.
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Fig. 92 Chesht, medrese, northeastern structure (CS 1b, foreground) and shrines
(CS 35-39, background), general view, from southwest

Fig. 93 Southwestern structure (CS 1a),
general view, from south
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Chesht-e Sharif, Medrese,
southwestern structure (CS 1a)

The ruin (Figs. 93; 94) is located in the south-
western corner of an extensive cemetery north
of the village Chesht-e Sharif. The structure was
once part of a larger building (Fig. 90), allegedly
a medrese’, to which also another structure
20 m to the northeast is assigned (CS 1b).

Among others, Diez (1924, 62; 63 Fig. 182),
Herberg (1979, 39) and Leisten (1998, 182;
183) assumed that the ruin was not to be ad-
dressed as part of a larger building, but as an
individual funerary monument. However, that
this is improbable is particularly indicated by
the irreqularity of the eastern walls (Fig. 91)
which indicates a connection to other parts
of a larger building complex. The same ap-
plies to the asymmetrical arrangement of en-
trances as well as to the decoration on the
southern fagade (Figs. 91; 93), which originally
continued to the east. Only this single room,
constructed of square burnt bricks (24-25
x 24-25 x 5 cm) and lime mortar, can still be
identified at the western part of the proposed
complex. No remains of a tomb were found or
were previously recorded either here or in the
neighbouring building CS 1b!

The ground plan of the room is an exact
square (internal measurement: 8.75 x 8.75 m) with
a representational entrance in the south (likely
one of the lateral entrances to the whole building
complex). Further 1.65 m wide openings in the
northern and eastern wall led to other rooms
which are no longer preserved. The ground
plan is marked by an elaborate construction
of the internal corners, each with two joined
half-columns. They served as supports for the
large pointed arches of the niches, which are
aligned along the entire length of each side of
the room (Figs. 91; 95). The half-columns rise
from about 1 m above the present-day surface,
a construction level that is accentuated by a row
of vertically placed bricks. All three doorways are
spanned by a flat pointed 'Iranian’ keel-arch.

10 The function of the building that included the
two structures is not conclusively certain but the
frequent adressing as a medrese is more than likely,
as argued hereafter.
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An epigraphic Naskhi stucco band with triple punched stems runs horizontally
along all four sides of the room, just above the pointed arches of the
doorways (Fig. 95). The frieze is in a very poor state of preservation and hardly
recognisable™, but two narrower ornamental borders can be discerned. The
inscription, recorded by P. Maitland in 1888, E. Diez in 1924, R. Frye in 1952,
and discussed more recently by S. Blair (1985, 81; 82), provides the name
of the patron: .. during the days of the reign of the great malik, assisted [by
God], victorious, triumphant, wise, just, Shams al-Dunya wa'l-Din’, referring
to Muhammad ibn Sam before he assumed the title and regnal lagab
Ghiyath al Dunya wa'l-Din (r. 1163-1203)."> Melikian-Chirvani (1970, 325)
has compared it with the stucco inscriptions preserved in the Friday Mosque
of Herat and the epigraphic friezes in the attached mausoleum, which are
both ascribed to the same ruler.

Further calligraphic friezes, slightly narrower, in Kufic with single
punched stems and only an outer ornamental border zone™, frame the four
pointed arches of the high niches in the side walls (Figs. 95; 96). It starts
in the northeastern corner with the bismillah, followed by the suras Quran
3:18-19 and 2:255, and ends in the east with the date in Persian .. dated to
the tenth of Jumid [sic] | of the year ... 562 [March 4, 1167]..." "

The large squinches above the corner niches change the rooms' ground
plan from a square to an octagon (Fig. 95). Behind each of the pointed arches
in the corners is a half-dome, the construction is now also visible from the
outside. Above this octagonal transition zone sits the round cupola that
covers the entire room. With a base diameter of 6.50 m, it is constructed of
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Fig. 94 Southwestern structure (CS 1a), general view, from northeast

square bricks and comprises about 90 brick layers. From the outside all of
the six ribs of the cupola, which reinforce the lower two-thirds of the dome,
can currently be localised. All internal walls and the inside of the cupola are
plastered and have been whitewashed in a light colour.

11 Restored 1978/79 (Dupaigne 2007, 111).
12 Blair 1985, 82.
13 Blair 1985, 82
14 Blair 1985, 82.
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F/g 95 50uthwestern structure [CS 1a),

inside view, from south

Fig. 96 Southwestern structure (CS 1a),
inside view, detail, from west
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The lower part of the building's exterior is irre-
gular on three sides: the bricks are set as if the
walls originally adjoined other rooms or outer
walls of the building. Only in the upper region
do the outer walls display a flat and smooth
surface. By contrast, the southern exterior
side of the building is elaborately built, the
structure is decoratively faced with vertically
set flat bricks (terracotta ornamentation). It
is composed of a pointed-arch entrance, la-
terally flanked by two vertical ornamental
bands, which are about 1.30 m wide and have
a floral pattern, enlaced by interwoven bands
(Fig. 93). This decorative band is followed in
the east by a 1.95m wide rectangular blind
niche with a pointed arch (Fig.97). Its base
is smaller than its maximum diameter - the
characteristic feature of horseshoe-shaped ar-
ches. The niche is bordered by half-columns
with three-dimensional brickwork and ad-
joined in the east by a few remains of the
same tripartite band of ornamental brickwork,
which is better preserved on the left side of the
niche. The back wall of the niche is decorated
in the same technique, with a large surface
ornament under a wide calligraphic band in
the lower rectangular part (Fig. 98) and a geo-
metric pattern in the arch zone.” West of the
entrance and the framing decorative band an-
other, significantly narrower (0.73 m) niche is
located. It displays an ornamentation, which is
analogous to the eastern niche, including the
flanking half-columns.

The combination of a pointed-arch entrance
flanked by two niches of distinctly different
width, is exactly paralleled on the facade of the
Shah-e Mashhad medrese (Fig. 89).

The construction technique of the squinch
dome as well as the type and delicacy of both
the interior and exterior wall decoration links
the building stylistically with the ruin further
northeast (CS 1b). The preserved onsets of walls
on both extant buildings indicate that both were
once part of the same large complex. Therefore,
the inscription mentioned above can be
considered relevant for dating the neighbouring
structure (CS 1b) as well.

15 Stylistically close to the niches of the Ghurid portal
in Herat (Franke/Urban 2017, 19 Fig. 17a-b).
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Flg 97 Southwestern structure {CS Ta), Fig. 98 Detail of the brick decoration (cp Fig. 97):a ca///graph/c band on top of a
detailed view, from south chain-lattice and interlaced bands around eight-pointed stars
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Chesht-e Sharif, Medrese, northeastern structure (CS 1b)

The second preserved part (CS 1b) of the assumed complex is situated some
20 m to the northeast of the building described above (CS 1a). It is even
more deteriorated and consists of only one room as well (Fig. 100). It is
constructed of square burnt bricks (24-25 x 24-25 x 5 cm) and lime mortar.
Rectangular in plan (internal measurements: 7.30 m [N-S] x 5.60 m [E-W]),
it is crowned by a cupola above an octagonal transitional zone with corner
squinches (Fig. 99).

On the eastern and western sides, the room is bound by more than 1.70 cm
thick walls, whereas the southern wall is constructed as a large pointed 'lranian’
keel-arch (Fig. 100). The outside of the arch is smoothly flattened by bricks
placed on edge, and the c. 1 m deep underside of the arch is decorated with
a calligraphic stucco frieze along the internal face and a band of intricately
laid, three-dimensional brick patterns (Figs. 102, right; 104, left). The latter
consists of a square field with Kufic inscriptions above the imposts, followed
by a band of repeated geometric patterns around a central star. A similar arch
originally existed on the northern side, of which only the lowest part just above
the springing lines (and now entirely without decoration) is still visible (Fig. 102,
left). There, only a few fragments of the three-dimensional brick decoration
have remained in situ, and the construction technique of the large arches is
thus easily recognisable: It was entirely built of vertically placed square bricks
of which the first two rows on each side protrude (Figs. 102; 104) and provide
the frame for the ornamental zone.

Only very little of the facade remains in the south, in fact only on both
the western and the eastern wall, about 1.20 m to the south of the southern
internal wall of the room (Fig. 99). They display a three-dimensional orna-
ment of terracotta pieces forming a monumental Kufic inscription zone
between braided bands (Figs. 101; 103). Both the inscription friezes are
fragmentary and preserved only up to a height of c. 1 m (Figs. 101; 103).
The western fragment however, provides the dedication: 'the great sultan ...
dated in Rabi‘ll of the year'..'® According to S. Blair, stylistic characteristics

16 Blair 1985, 82.
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Fig. 99 Northeastern structure (CS 1b),
ground plan

link the inscription to the Shah-e Mashhad
medrese in Garjistan (dated 1166 or 1175/1176),
but the title 'magnificent sultan' refers again
to Ghiyath al-Din Muhammad, connecting it
to an inscription in a shrine in Mashhad (dated
1181).7

However, as argued above, architectural
details indicate that originally both ruins were
part of a single structure in which case the
date of the western building most probably
applies to both structures.

The internal side walls of the room are divi-
ded into two storeys. The eastern wall on the
ground floor is smooth and not decorated, while
the western wall is taken up by a mihrab within
a rectangular blind niche (Fig. 107); its presence
indicates that this room was a place for prayers.
Above, the remains of stucco decoration can
still be recognised (Fig. 105). Built as a high,
rectangular niche with a horseshoe-shaped
pointed arch, the shape of the mihrab in the
eastern wall (Fig. 107) is repeated in each of the
three blind niches in the upper storey (Figs. 102;
104). Above each of the two flanking lateral
niches are two smaller, horseshoe-shaped blind
niches; the central niche is higher and larger. The
horseshoe-pointed-arch niche is also present in
the southern facade of building CS 1a.

17 Blair 1985, 82.
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Fig. 102 Northeastern structure (CS 1b), inside view, from west

.

;,T. _‘ c - 7 ’ﬂ_.. .I' 1
Fig. 101 Northeastern structure (CS 1b),
detail of western brick decoration, from south

Fig. 104 Northeastern structure (CS 1b), inside view, upper part, from east
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Fig. 105 Northeastern structure (CS 1b), inside view, lower part,
remains of stucco decoration, from east

Fig. 103 Northeastern structure (CS 1b),
detail of eastern brick decoration, from south
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